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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA : Hon. Rukhsanah L. Singh
v, : Mag. No. 26-14000 (RLS)
DANIEL BERWICK CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

I, Ken McGarry, being duly sworn, state that the following is true and correct
to the best of my knowledge and belief:

SEE ATTACHMENT A

I further state that I am a Task Force Officer with the Federal Bureau of
Investigation, and that this complaint is based on the following facts:

SEE ATTACHMENT B

continued on the attached pages and made a part hereof.

/s/ Ken McGarry

Signature of Affiant

Ken McGarry, Task Force Officer
Federal Bureau of Investigation

Attested to by telephone pursuant to
Fed. R. Crim. P. 4.1 on
April 2.4, 2026,

in the District of New Jersey ([E ;/. \

Hon. R@hsanah L. Singh
United States Magistrate Judge

RECEIVED

APR 2~ 2026

AT 8:30 M
CLERK, U.S. BISTRICT COURT - DNJ
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ATTACHMENT A

COUNT ONE
(Production of Child Pornography)

On or about September 15, 2025, in Middlesex County, in the District of New
Jersey, and elsewhere, the defendant,

DANIEL BERWICK,

did knowingly employ, use, persuade, induce, entice, and coerce a minor, namely
Minor Victim-1, an individual whe had not attained the age of 18 years, to engage in
sexually explicit conduct, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 2256(2),
for the purpose of producing a visual depiction of such conduct, knowing and having
reason to know that such visual depiction would be transported and transmitted
using any means and facility of interstate and foreign commerce and in and affecting
interstate commerce, and which visual depiction was transported and transmitted
using any means and facility of interstate and foreign commerce and in and affecting
interstate and foreign commerce,

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2251(a).
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COUNT TWO
{Production of Child Pornography)

On or about August 5, 2025, in Middlesex County, in the District of New Jersey,
and elsewhere, the defendant,

DANIEL BERWICK,

did knowingly employ, use, persuade, induce, entice, and coerce a minor, namely
Minor Vietim-2, an individual who had not attained the age of 18 years, to engage in
sexually explicit conduct, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 2256(2),
for the purpose of producing a visual depiction of such conduct, knowing and having
reason to know that such visual depiction would be transported and transmitted
using any means and facility of interstate and foreign commerce and in and affecting
interstate commerce, and which visual depiction was transported and transmitted
using any means and facility of interstate and foreign commenrce and in and affecting
interstate and foreign commerce.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2251(a).
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COUNT THREE
{Possession of Child Pornography)

On or about January 21, 2026, in Middlesex County, in the District of New
Jdersey, and elsewhere, the defendant,

DANIEL BERWICK,

did knowingly possess a CyberPower PC Desktop that contained at least 1,000 images
of child pornography, including an image involving a prepubescent minor and a minor
who had not attained 12 years of age, as defined in Title 18, United States Code,
Section 2256(8), which images had been mailed, shipped, and transported using any
means or facility of interstate and foreign commerce and in and affecting interstate
and foreign commerce by any means, including by computer, and that were produced
using materials that had been mailed, and shipped and transported in and affecting
interstate and foreign commerce by any means, including by computer.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2252A(a)(5)(B) and (b)(2).
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ATTACHMENT B

1, Ken McGarry, am a Task Force Officer with the Federal Bureau of
Investigation (“FBI”). I am fully familiar with the facts set forth herein based on my
own investigation, my conversations with other law enforcement officers, and my
review of reports, documents, and items of evidence. Because this Affidavit is being
submitted for a limited purpose, I have not set forth each and every fact that I know
concerning this investigation, Where the contents of documents and the actions and
statements of others are reported herein, they are reported in substance and in part,
except where otherwise indicated. Where I assert that an event took place on a
particular date, I am agserting that it took place on or about the date alleged.

A. Background
1. At all times relevant to this Complaint:

a. The Defendant, Daniel Berwick (“Berwick”, was born in or
around 1987 and resided in Old Bridge, New Jersey.

b. Minor Victim-1 was born in or around 2009 and resided in Texas.

c. Minor Victim-2 was born in or around 2008 and resided in
California.

2. This case involves the production and possession of child pornography

as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 2256(8). I am aware that that
statutory definition of child pornography includes visual depictions of minors engaged
in sexually explicit conduct, and that “sexually explicit conduct™includes both sadistic
or masochistic abuse as well as lascivious exhibition of the anus, genitals, or pubic
area under Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2256(2)(A)@iii) - (v) and (8). In
addition, “child pornography” may also be referred to as “child sexual abuse material”
or “CSAM.”

B. Law Enforcement Alerted to a Highest Priority CyberTip
Involving Berwick

3. On or about December 5, 2025, law enforcement received a “Priority-1”
CyberTip from the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (“NCMEC”)
related to activity on the social media platform Snapchat.! A Priority-1 CyberTip is
the highest priority tip and indicates “current or imminent risk to an individual.”

INCMEC maintains a centralized reporting system for the online exploitation of children. Members
of the public and online service providers can make electronic reporting of suspected online enticement,
child sexual abuse material, or other abuse of children. These reports are known as “CyberTips.”

b
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4, The Priority-1 CyberTip originated from Snapchat, which had received
information from Minor Victim-1 that a Snapchat account (“Username-1”), later
identified to be used by Berwick, was threatening to send compromising images
and/or recordings of Minor Victim-1 to her family and officials at her high school.
After verifying the information provided by Minor Victim-1, Snapchat contacted
NCMEC and provided a series of messages involving Minor Victim-1 and Username-
1 to substantiate the tip, NCMEC then issued the Priority-1 CyberTip to law
enforcement.

5. Username-1 was associated with an Internet Protocol (‘IP”) address
that was the subject of another CyberTip in 2024. That CyberTip was associated with
a separate Snapchat username (“Username-2”), which was also later identified to be
used by Berwick. ‘

6. Subscriber records provided by Snapchat revealed that Username-1 was
created on or about the same date that the 2024 CyberTip was issued related to
Username-2. In addition, the subscriber records revealed a Google email address
associated with Username-1 and another Google email address associated with
Username-2.

7. Subscriber records provided by Google for the email addresses
referenced above revealed a common phone number associated with both Username-
1 and Username-2 (the “Phone Number”). The Phone Number was associated with
Berwick and a residential address in Old Bridge, New dJersey (the “Berwick
Residence”).

8. Law enforcement obtained information from the Old Bridge, New Jersey
Police Department that Berwick had used the Phone Number to contact the police in
previous, unrelated, calls for service.

9. Records provided by the internet service provider Verizon revealed that
the account owner for the IP address, which was associated with Username-1 on or
about August 6, 2025, was a family member of Berwick who Hved with Berwick at the
Berwick Residence (“Family Member-17).

10.  Records provided by the cellular service provider Verizon revealed that
the account owner for the Phone Number was Family Member-1.

11.  On or about December 24, 2025, a judge of the Superior Court of New
Jersey, Middlesex County, on an application of probable cause, authorized a search
warrant to Snapchat for information associated with the Username-1 and Username-
2 accounts,
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C. Minor Vietim-1 Produced Child Sexual Abuse Material at the
Direction of Berwick

12. On or about January 5, 2026, Minor Victim-1 was interviewed. She
described the following:

13. Minor Vietim-1 stated that beginning in or around 2023, Berwick,
posing as Username-1, began chatting with Minor Victim-1 on Snapchat. At the time,
Minor Victim-2 was 14 years old. During Berwick’s conversations on Snapchat with
Minor Victim-1, she informed him that she was 14 years old.,

14.  Posing as Username-1, Berwick presented himself as a 17-year-old male
living in New Jersey. The images Berwick sent to Minor Victim-1 of Username-1 were
of a male who appeared to be in his late teens or early 20s.2

15,  Berwick, posing as Username-1, enticed and persuaded Minor Vietim-1
to send him images of herself in her underwear. Eventually, Berwick began
requesting nude images of Minor Victim-1.

16.  When Minor Victim-1 was 15 years old, Berwick, posing as Username-
1, enticed and persuaded Minor Victim-1 to send him photographs of herself
masturbating using a vibrator. Through Snapchat, Minor Victim-1 sent Berwick at
least one image of a vibrator inserted in her vagina.

17. In another instance, Berwick, posing as Username-1, enticed and
persuaded Minor Victim-1, when she was 15 years old, to record a video of herself
masturbating using a vibrator. Minor Victim-1 sent the recording to Berwick via
Snapchat,

18. At various times, Berwick, posing as Username-1, would send images
and recordings purporting to be Berwick masturbating to Minor Victim-1. At least
one recording sent to Minor Victim-1 from Berwick, posing as Username-1, was of
Username-1 masturbating and ejaculating into his own mouth. Another recording
was of the Username-1 masturbating in front of a mirror.

19.  In or around December 2025, Minor Victim-1 accidentally sent Berwick,
posing as Username-1, a recording of herself engaging in sexual intercourse with
another individual. Berwick threatened to share the recording with Minor Victim-1’s
family and officials at her high school unless she either paid him or allowed him to
have sexual intercourse with her. To prove that he knew Minor Victim-1’s identity
and to show that he could make good on his threats, Berwick sent Minor Victim-1
images of Minor Victim-1's high school website along with an image of Minor Vietim-
1 and a school official.

2 Based on my training and experience, Berwick posing as Username-1 is an example of “catfishing.”

7
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20. Minor Victim-1 stated that due to Berwick’s threats to expose the
recording, she felt that her “only way out” was to commit suicide. She eventually
reported Berwick on Snapchat, which prompted the Priority-1 CyberTip referenced
above in paragraphs 3-4, above.

D. Law Enforcement’s Receipt of Additional Information
Connecting Berwick with Username-1 and Chats with Minor
Victim-1 ’

21. Law enforcement determined that the image of Username-1 did not
match the likeness of Berwick. Law enforcement conducted a reverse image search of
the images Berwick presented as Username-1, which revealed that the person
depicted in the images was an adult sexual content creator based out of Seattle,
Washington.

Berwick Username-1

22, On or about January 8, 2026, Snapchat provided law enforcement with
records related to Username-1 and Username-2 in response to the warrant
authorized as referred to in paragraph 11, above.

23.  The records provided by Snapchat included a voice message sent by
Username-1 to Minor Victim-1 on or about January 20, 2025 that stated, “I think you
should fucking open right now and be my little fucking whoxre. Now shut the fuck up,
pull your pants down, and spread that fucking... pink... cunt.”

24.  Another voice message sent by Username-1 sent on or about February
9, 2026 to Minor Victim-1 stated, “I love you too, but you told me your dad was going
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to be out. So T want you bouncing on that dildo. That ass bouncing up and down on
it.55

256. Law enforcement obtained body-worn camera footage from the Old
Bridge Police Department involving an unrelated incident with Berwick from on or
about November 9, 2023. Based on my review of the Snapchat voice messages
referenced above, the body-worn camera footage, and my training and experience, [
believe that the voice from the Snapchat voice messages is Berwick’s.

26.  Law enforcement located a series of Snapchat text messages from on or
about December 2, 2025 where Berwick, posing as Username-1, discussed previous
CSAM recordings of Minor Victim-1.

Username-1: I migs the videos of you fucking yourself

Minor Victim-1: why didn’t u save them?

Username-1: to respect you

Minor Victim-1: Oh

Username-1: Yeah I should of they were always so good.

Minor Victim-1: Maybe if you send me a snap of u ill make one for you tmr

27. Law enforcement also located series of Snapchat text messages from on
or about December 3, 2025 where Berwick expressed a desire for another CSAM
recording from Minor Victim-1 and provided divection to her on its content.

Minor Victim-1: Abt to go on a date

Username-1: U alone?

Minor Victim-1: We going to walk around a garden and look at Chris\tmas
lights

Minor Victim-1: No he’s here rn be my dads taking us

Username-1: Ohhhh was gonna say take your tits out for me cause you know
you rather be with me

Minor Victim-1: yeah ik

Minor Victun-1. Can I see?
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Username-1: Later when you're home

Minor Victim-1: Aw man

Minor Victim-1: Can I get a vid and I'll make another one for u?
Username-1: Sure what u gonna do in yours

Minor Victim-1: Vibrator and maybe I'll try and squirt

Minor Victim-1: But remember | don’t do anal stuff or put the toy in my mouth
and I'm not gonna pee or shit

Username-1: Can u spread your asshole while using your vibrator

3

Minor Victim-1: I'll txy

Username-1; Yey

[...]

Minor Victim-1: I'm home now

Minor Victim-1: I'll send u the vid when I shower be the vibrator has to charge
[..]

Username-1: How was the date

Minor Victim-1; It was alright it was just really cold outside

Minor Victim-1: Can I hear ur voice again

[Username-1 sends a voice note saying “Yeah”]

Username-1: When you fuck yourself can you vape while doing it

Minor Victim-1: Yeah - :
Minor Vietim-1: I mean I was gonna do that anyway
Minor Victim-1: I missed ur voice

Username-1: Awwww ty it's ok I guess haha

Minor Victim-1: Can I see u cum tn?

10
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Minor Victim-1: My head hurts

Username-1: Yesssss

Username-1: Rub your pussy while vaping hehehe

L.

Minor Vietim-1: Can u call?

Username-1: Soon

Minor Victim-1; Like jst a normal call nothing freaky

Username-1: I thought u were doing the video

Minor Vietim-1: In a bit 'm trying to talk my friend out of killing himself

Minor Vietim-1: I'll try and squirt but no promises

Username-1: Ok

Minor Vietim-1: It's taking a long time to send @

Username-1: It's ok?® |

Username-1; so hottttr imagine me eating your pussy while u do that
- Minor Victim-1: Can I se eu cum now?

Usernamé-l: Yesss can I see you cum too .

Minor Victim-1: I'm trying to squirt rn

Username-1: Do it baby

Username-1; fucking do it

Minor Victim-1: Ok so it’s like really long I didn’t squint [sic] but I did cum

Username-1: I lov your hairy pussy so much

Minor Victim-1: It’s still sending &

3 Based on the below response from Username-1, my knowledge of this case, and my training and
experience, I believe that Minor Victim-1 gent a video of her performing sexual acts on herself at this
time.

11
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Username-1: Baby one last request then I'm donne send u everything. Can you
scoot your ass close to the camera doggy style and spread so T can see both holes open

Minor Victim-1: I'm already dressed again and I'm abt to have to go play a
game w my brother

28, Law enforcement located another series of Snapchat text messages
dated on or about on December 4, 2025. Based on the below messages, my knowledge
of the case, and my training and experience, this group of messages is preceded by
Minor Victim-1 sending Username-1 the video of her having sexual intercourse, as
described in paragraph 20, above.

Username-1; Whose that

Minor Victim-1: Jst sum guy I met on snap
Username-1: You fucked him ?

Minor Victim-1: Yeah

Username-1: When

Minor Victim-1: Tn

Minor Victim-1: He jst left

Username-1: That's not your pussy

Minor Victim-1: I had to shave
Usernamel—l: Show me fou shaved
Username-1: What else u record

Minor Victim-1: That’s it .
Minor Vigtim-l: We prolly gonna do it again so I'll record more
Username-1: You lost your virginity to him ?

Minor Victim-1: Yeah

[...]

Username-1: You know what's crazy

Minor Vietim-1: Yeah ik

12
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Username-1: You sent that to me

Username-1: Knowing I know where you live
Username-1: Who your parents are

Username-1: Your brother’s insta

Username-1: Your insta

Username-1: And 1 could just ruin your life
Username-1: And since you don’t care I just sent it
Minor Victim-1: Who are my parents then

29.  Username-1 sent a screenshot image of Minor Victim-1 with her legs
spread open and what appears to be a clothed individual on top of her, The image
depicts the abdominal region of both individuals. The screenshot also indicates that
the image was captured via a screen recording.

Username-1: You can’t delete what I save

Minor Victim-1: Plz don’t

Username-1: Nah rmhurt me bad

Minor Victim-1: Plz no you cion’t know what they do
Username-1: Just like you didn't care

Username-1: I really don't care what they’ll do
Minor Vietim-1: Plz I'm serious

Minor Victim-1: T'll do anything jst don’t send it to them

Username-1: I am too. You totally fucked me up right now
Minor Victim-1: Plz what do u want jst don’t send them that
Username-1: I want you to hurt just like you hurt me

[..]

Username-1: U thought I would like to see the girl I share my most intimate
moments with fucking a dude with a small dick

13
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Username-1: A girl I talked to for the better part of a year then she blocks me
Minor Vietim-1; that was my first time ok I'm sorry

[.]

30. Username-1 sends a cropped and zoomed in picture of Minor Victim-1
wearing a sports medal around her neck. Law enforcement subsequently confirmed
that this image was of Minor Victim-1,

Minor Vietim-1: [Username-1] please I'm serious
[...]

Username-1: Well if u wént it to stop there is a way
Minor Victim-1: What is it

Username-1: Pay me off

Minor Victim-1: I don’t have any money
Username-1: Looks like option 2

Minor Victim-1: Please tell me you didn’t

Minor Victim-1: What is option 2

Username-1: What ya plans for this weekend
[...]

Username-1: Wrong

Username-1: You're fucking me

Username-1: I'll be there Friday night
Username-1: See ya then

E. Law Enforcement Officers Arrest' Berwick and Search his
Residence and Discover Child Abuse Sexual Material of Minor
Victim-1 and Minor Victim-2

31.  On or about January 16, 2026, a judge of the Superior Court of New
Jersey, Middlesex County, on an application of probable cause, authorized warrants
to search Berwick, the Berwick Residence, Berwick’s two vehicles, and electronic
devices found on Berwick, in the Residence, and in the vehicles. On or about January

14
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21, 2026, law enforcement officers with the Middlesex County Prosecutor’s Office, the
Monmouth County Prosecutor’s Office, the Old Bridge Police Department, and the
FBI executed the search warrants.

32. During the searches, law enforcement officers seized numerous
electronic devices belonging to Berwick. One of the devices, a WD Elements external
hard drive (the “Hard External Drive”), included CSAM images and recordings of
Minor Victim-1. Berwick was placed under arrest.

33. The External Hard Drive also contained electronic file folders labeled
with various female names. Within these folders were screen recordings captured by
the application, “AZ Screen Recorder,”t

34. The recordings depicted Snapchat communications between Berwick
‘and various females, including Minor Victim-1. Numerous recordings captured
Berwick’s likeness when Berwick initialized the AZ Screen Recorder and opened the
Snapchat application.

35. In at least one recording from the AZ Screen Recorder, Berwick is
captured accessing an electronic folder on his mobile device that contained dozens of
images and/or recordings of the adult sexual content creator referenced in paragraph
15, above. The AZ Screen Recorder then captured Berwick selecting an image or
recording, inserting it into his Snapchat messages, and sending it to whomever he
was chatting with to present himself as Username-1.

36. Law enforcement located multiple screen recordings of Snapchat
communications between Berwick, posing as Username-1, and Minor Victim-1.

a, One recording from on or about September 15, 2025,
approximately one minute in length, depicts a Snapchat message
thread with Minor Victim-1. One of the messages sent by Minor
Victim-1 is, “Do I have to show my face in the vid?” The recording
captured Minor Victim-1 standing in her bathroom removing her
clothes, exposing her breasts, vagina, and buttocks until she is
completely naked. Berwick, posing as Username-1, responds with
messages, “Your body's so perfect” and “Can u send over and
spread.”

b. One vecording from on or about September 15, 2025,
approximately 45 seconds long, depicts a Snapchat message
thread with Minor Victim-1. The recording captured Minor

4 AZ Screen Recorder is a mobile appHeation for Android and Apple 108 devices that allows users to
create screen recordings from their mobile device. Individuals with whom the recording user may be
conversing would not be aware that the conversation was being recorded.

15
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Victim-1 sitting on a floor penetrating her vagina with a vibrating
gsex toy. In the recording, Minor Victim-1 is naked, with her
breasts and vagina exposed.

37. Law enforcement also located multiple screen recordings taken between
on or about July 8, 2025 and on or about September 11, 2025 of Snapchat
communications between Berwick, posing as Username-1, and a minor, later
identified as Minor Victim-2. Multiple screen recordings include Minor Vietim-2
holding her driver’s license. The image on the driver’s license depicts Minor Victim-
2.

a. One recording from on or about August 5, 2025, approximately
two minutes in length, captured Minor Victim-2 holding a pair of
underwear and inserting the underwear into her vagina. Berwick,
posing as Usermane-1, responded with messages, “Omggggg that
cream” and “keep going.” Minor Victim-2 responded by sending
Berwick a video of her inserting the same pair of underwear into
her mouth. Berwick responded with the following messages:

i. “Keep doing poses with your license j love that shit”

ii. “Fuck yessss that's so hot”

iii. “U know what I wanna make u do”

iv. “I wanna make you rub your pussy and have you tell me
everything personal about yourself. Age where u live show
your license. Say your social”

v. “Dox yourself for me”

b. One recording from on or about August 5, 2025, approximately 71
seconds in length, captured a series of Snapchat messages with
Minor Victim-2, The messages include:

1. Berwick: “do u enjoy this babe”
1i. Minor Victim-2: “yes daddy”

11, Berwick: “put the license on your pussy”

iv. Minor Victim-2: “yes daddy”

16
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c. One recording from August 5, 2025, approximately 31 seconds in
length, captured an image of Minor Vietim-2 holding a driver’s
license against a vagina. Based on other images and recordings of
Minor Victim-2, my knowledge of the case, and my training and
experience, the image is of Minor Victim-2's vagina. Berwick
responds with the message, “u promise to be mine forever.”

d. One recording from on or about August 26, 2025, approximately
23 seconds in length, depicted Minor Victim-2 running outside
through a residential neighborhood while lowering her sports bra
exposing her breast. Berwick, posing as Username-1, responds
with a message, “good girl goe as long you can both tits out.” When
Berwick exited the Snapchat thread with Minor Victim-2, the
Snapchat camera was facing him, and face was captured in real
time. Berwick was sitting in what appeared to be the basement of
the Berwick Residence at the time the screen recording was
captured while he was communicating with Minor Victim-2.

OB BB e

F. Minor Victim-2 Produced Child Sexual Abuse Material at the
Direction of Berwick

38.  Minor Victim-2 was identified by law enforcement and interviewed on
or about February 2, 2026. She described the following:

39.  Beginning in or around July 2025, Berwick began chatting with Minor

Victim-2 using Snapchat. Like his conversations with Minor Victim-1, in his
conversations with Minor Vietim-2, Berwick presented himself as Username-1.

17
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40.  Berwick told Minor Victim-2 that he was a senior in high school in New
Jersey. Minor Victim-2 informed Berwick, posing as the Username-1, that she was
16 years old. As discussed below, on at least one occasion, Berwick requested images
from Minor Victim-2 to include her driver’'s license, which confirmed her age and
status as a minor,

41.  Berwick, posing as the Username-1, told Minor Victim-2 that he loved
her. Minor Victim-2 developed romantic feelings for Berwick (in his guise as
Username-1) and believed that he had similar feelings towards her.

42.  Approximately a month after Berwick’s initial conversation with Minor
Victim-2, he began asking Minor Victim-2 for images of her in various outfits as “fit
checks.”

43.  Posing as Username-1, Berwick enticed and persuaded Minor Victim-2
to engage in acts of a sexualized nature, encouraged her to photograph or record
herself doing so, and enticed and persuaded her to send the images and/or recordings
to him. For example:

a. Minor Victim-2 described requests she received from Berwick for
photos of Minox Victim-2 posing with her driver’s license, followed
by requests from Berwick to use her driver's license to
masturbate. Minor Victim-2 complied, recorded on Snapchat a
video of herself masturbating with her driver’s license, and sent
it to Berwick via Snapchat.

b. In at least one video that Berwick requested of Minor Victim-2
masturbating when she was 16 years old, Berwick provided
directions to Minor Victim-2 on the angle she should hold her
phone to record herself.

44. At various times, Berwick, posing as Username-1, would send Minor
Victim-Z images and/or recordings of Username-1 masturbating.

45.  On or about August 24, 2025, Berwick, posing as Username-1, sent
Minor Victim-2 money via a Venmo account., Records obtained by law enforcement
revealed that the Venmo account Username-1 used to send money to Minor Victim-2
is registered with Berwick and includes the Phone Number and the Berwick
Residence. The Venmo account transaction history included at least one transaction
with Minor Victim-2.
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G. Berwick’s Electronic Devices Contain Additional Child Sexual
Abuse Material

46. Law enforcement located on Berwick’s CyberPower PC Desktop over
1,000 files containing child pornography as defined by Title, 18, United States Code,
Section 2256(8).

47. The files depict prepubescent minors engaged in sexually explicit
conduct, sexual abuse or exploitation of an infant or toddler, and images portraying
sadistic or masochistic conduct. Summaries of these images include:

_ - _ nt

One 1mage depicting a prepubescent female,
estimated to be between the ages of 7 -11 years of
age, being vaginally penetrated by an adult
male’s erect penis. There is no breast and/or
vaginal development in the child. The male is
laying on his back, and is holding the female’s
waist while holding her on top of him,

1389404 One 1mage depicting a prepubescent female,
estimated to be between the ages of 2-4 years of
age, being orally penetrated by an adult male’s
erect penis. The child is grasping the male’s penis
and holding it inside her mouth.

13875604 One image depicting a prepubescent female,
estimated to be between the ages of 6 -10 years of
age, laying on her back on a bed. The female is
completely naked, other than wearing a pair of | -
black knit stockings, and her chest and vagina are
exposed. There is no breast and/or vaginal
development in the child, The female’s legs are
bent at the knee, spread open, and are tied
together around her ankles and thighs by yellow
rope.

1391784

48. Based on my education, training and experience, my discussions with
other law enforcement officers, and to the best of my knowledge and belief, the images
of child pornography described in paragraph 47, above, were transported and
transmitted in interstate commerce and were transported and transmitted using any
means and facility of interstate and foreign commerce, including by computer, and
the images of child pornography found on the CyberPower PC Desktop further were
produced using materials that were mailed, shipped, and transported in or affecting
interstate or foreign commerce by any means, including by computer.

19




